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  Help Us Keep This Guide Up to Date




  Every effort has been made by the authors and editors to make this guide as accurate and useful as possible. However, many things can change after a guide is published—trails are rerouted, regulations change, facilities come under new management, and so forth.




  We would love to hear from you concerning your experiences with this guide and how you feel it could be improved and kept up to date. While we may not be able to respond to all comments and suggestions, we’ll take them to heart and we’ll also make certain to share them with the authors. Please send your comments and suggestions to the following address:




  Globe Pequot Press




  Reader Response/Editorial Department




  P.O. Box 480




  Guilford, CT 06437




  Or you may e-mail us at:




  editorial@GlobePequot.com




  Thanks for your input, and happy travels!
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    PREFACE


  




  Lighthouses Take on New Roles:


  From Navigational Aids to Sentinels of History




  Lighthouses have been taking on new roles beginning with the time that they were transferred from the US Lighthouse Service to the US Coast Guard (USCG) in 1939 as America prepared for a second world war. The greatest changes have come about during the last two decades as technology as introduced some of the most sweeping advancements in the history of mankind. In a very real way, lighthouses have changed from navigational aids to popular tourist destinations steeped in maritime history. Today many are recognized as significant to American history through their listing in the National Register of Historic Places, and at least eleven have been designated National Historic Landmarks.




  The digital age has introduced amazing possibilities, exemplified by a computer and a camera tightly bundled into a palm-sized “smart phone.” Even the revolutionary optic of its time, the early-nineteenth-century Fresnel lens, is being replaced by high-tech LED lights that can be adjusted for both flash characteristic, or rhythm, and intensity to be clearly visible in areas of intense, urban background lighting. It has been estimated that we are now experiencing a century of change in less than a decade. But as a result of these high-tech changes, people have lost jobs and have been expected to retrain abruptly to serve other purposes to survive.




  Similarly, lighthouses lost their jobs as they were outmoded first by radar and then by the global positioning system (GPS), a satellite-based navigation system that in effect made them obsolete as aids to navigation. Thus, our guiding lights became unessential, and in many cases the towers were abandoned, left to deteriorate.




  Hundreds of light stations subsequently went up for adoption as coordinated within the National Park Service via the National Historic Lighthouse Preservation Act of 2000 (NHLPA), which created preservation guidelines to ensure that new stewards met mandatory preservation standards set forth by the secretary of the interior. The process begins when a light station is declared surplus property by the USCG to the General Services Administration. Following consultation with the light station’s state historic preservation office, a Notice of Availability is published offering affordable ownership of the property. Applications may be made by federal agencies, state and local governments, nonprofit organizations, educational agencies, and community development organizations. Only as a last option does a light station go on the public auction block. At first glance this perhaps sounds unreasonable, but consider that if a light is bought privately, chances are that public access to the historical structure would not be allowed. This places the lighthouse outside its historical context, which is exactly what the NHLPA wants to prevent.




  Although the faces of light station owners have changed, rigid preservation standards must be maintained, just as in the olden days when all light stations were under the scrutiny of the US government—the same government that demanded that a keeper turn in an old paintbrush to receive a new one. In response to adopting light stations that have been declared surplus properties, dozens of volunteer groups and chapters of larger nonprofit organizations have formed all around America’s coasts and Great Lakes. These groups have taken the opportunity not only to restore these historical sites but also to interpret each light station’s legends. Although names and locations may differ, the purpose of these groups remains the same: To breathe life back into these gentle giants and share the rich and varied stories of maritime heritage with visitors. Foremost are the volunteers—to them go the deserved laurels for their efforts to help our lighthouses.




  And it bears noting here that working quietly in the background of all this enlivened restoration work is a group known as the American Lighthouse Coordinating Committee. This task group comprises a consortium of organizations and individuals that are experts in every field concerned with lighthouses, standing at the ready to help troubleshoot issues just for the asking.




  Like the phoenix rising, some of the best lighthouse preservation efforts to date continue into the twenty-first century. Ownership of and funding for lighthouses have become diversified within the public and private sectors; however, in each case, funds are hard earned and long fought for. As a result of these efforts, at many American lighthouses visitors can now experience what these great structures were like over a century ago when light stations still gleamed under the hands of dedicated keepers. Overnight accommodations are even offered now at several lighthouses for a one-of-a-kind experience.




  Herein lies the importance of not only restoring lighthouses but also opening them to the public wherever possible. Modest entry fees generate future maintenance funds—funds that are not dependent on government support. These once-ailing structures have proven themselves not to be the invalids they once were thought to be. Restored, many are as strong as when originally completed, if not stronger. Moreover, many have been rekindled, and their comforting lights now shine into the twenty-first century. In summary: Heritage tourism is a hot item—American lighthouses can still work and be productive. When these lights are opened for visitation, people flock to see them, buy tickets to climb them, and take souvenirs home from nearby gift shops while bolstering surrounding community businesses. We salute the efforts of these nonprofit and private groups as well as city, county, state, and federal organizations that are keeping the lights burning.




  After all, each of us could do worse than to be like a lighthouse—to stand tall, to be strong in the teeth of a storm, and to shine as brightly as possible. As Ray Jones poignantly stated, “Lighthouses call to us not only across water but also across time.”




  In all probability at least one of our ancestors who immigrated to this country was greeted by two of the nation’s strongest symbols: An American lighthouse and a waving American flag. As representatives of our great nation, lighthouses have remained remarkably the same over the centuries, and many are enjoying a resurgence of popularity in new roles as sentinels of maritime history.




  [image: Pictured here is the beautifully restored St. Augustine Light and its first-order Fresnel lens.]




  [image: Perched on a cliff far above the Pacific, Oregon�s Heceta Head Light warns mariners away from this beautiful but extraordinarily dangerous coast.]






  

    INTRODUCTION


  




  The Romance of Lighthouses




  Very likely tucked away among your most pleasant memories is an evening stroll along a beach, an experience perhaps warmed by the companionship of a friend or a child. Probably you remember the feeling of moist sand under your bare feet, the kiss of a light breeze in your face, or the roar of the sea�in the dark it sounds less like waves striking sand and more like those eternal oceans you hear in a shell. But if there was a lighthouse beacon flashing in the distance, calling to you from the horizon, that part of the memory is especially bright.




  Lighthouses and their beacons appeal to our sense of wonder, and as with the ocean itself, we attach a mythological importance to them. Even when we are far inland and away from the shore, the mere image of a lighthouse on a postcard, a stamp, or a company logo will remind us of the sea and of our powerful connection to it.




  Nearly everyone, young or old, male or female, sailor or landlubber, is fascinated by lighthouses. And why not? Lighthouses are fun. Lighthouses are filled with meaning and mystery. Among our most historical and romantic structures, they are often located in beautiful places�on spectacular promontories or pristine barrier islands. Many, with their soaring brick walls, intricate steel skeletons, or cozy dwellings covered with Victorian gingerbread, are architectural treasures. Nearly all are more than a century old and some more than two centuries. Most are associated with drama�tragic shipwrecks, heroic rescues, self-sacrifice, and loves lost or found.




  Of course, lighthouses have a very practical value for mariners, who still make good use of them. Even nowadays, when radar and satellites make pinpoint navigation possible, seamen are likely to put more faith in what they can see with their own eyes. To understand why this is so, consider that whenever the power goes out at home, we immediately start groping through drawers searching for candles and matches. We need light; otherwise, we�ll start bumping into things.




  Anyone who has ever experienced total darkness, as sailors do on a moonless, starless night, will know what it�s like to feel utterly lost and cut off from the solid earth. The blackness is tangible. It swirls around you like a liquid, making it impossible to tell up from down, let alone north from south or east from west. So it is very easy to imagine the joy a hundred generations of mariners have felt at the sight of a lighthouse beacon on the horizon.




  It has been said that men have always made better navigators than they have brothers. The carnage of a thousand sea battles would seem to prove the point. But lighthouses stand as a powerful argument against that view. They save lives, provide direction, and welcome travelers to safe harbor. The people who build or maintain them ask nothing in return.




  In this sense the hundreds of lights that extend in a sparkling chain along our coasts represent our very best instincts as Americans. They mark us as an open society, a hospitable people more than happy to welcome others to our shores. For countless thousands of immigrants, the very first glimpse of America was the flash of a navigational beacon�perhaps the Point Bonita Light near the Golden Gate, the Montauk Light at the far eastern end of Long Island, or even of Lady Liberty herself�the Statue of Liberty was, in fact, once a lighthouse.
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  The magnificent first-order Fresnel lens warms the night sky over Currituck Beach on North Carolina’s Outer Banks—just as it has since 1875.




  Ironically, the tall sentinels that have welcomed so many to America and have saved so many ships and lives are themselves now in danger of extinction. Over the last half a century, both technical advances in navigation and budgetary concerns have led to the abandonment and destruction of one lighthouse after another. Some have been torn down, others have been permanently scarred by vandals, and a few have collapsed into the sea. But the story of America�s lighthouses may yet have a happy ending.




  Civic-minded individuals and organizations all over the country are working tirelessly to save our remaining historical lighthouses, and as you�ll discover in the pages that follow, they are succeeding. Lighthouses have been guiding ships and sailors for at least three thousand years. Perhaps now they are guiding all of us to a better understanding of our past and of ourselves as Americans.




  This guidebook is your invitation to take part in the ongoing lighthouse adventure. This introductory section provides a look at the history of America�s light towers, the engineers who built them, and the keepers who, along with their families, lived at the lighthouses and lit their lamps each night.




  Following the introduction, we�ll take you on an imaginary journey beginning in far Downeast Maine; we�ll travel down the Eastern Seaboard, along the Gulf of Mexico, up the Pacific coast from Southern California to the remote Aleutian Islands in Alaska, and finally through the Great Lakes, from Ontario to the far shores of Superior. Through words and breathtaking photography, you�ll visit more than five hundred lighthouses, learn their dramatic histories, and see how they work. Ample travel information is included so you can experience and photograph the old towers yourself and, if you like, walk the nearby beaches to watch the lights flashing in the night.




  Lighthouses throughout History




  The ancient Greeks were a seafaring people, so it should come as no surprise that they included a lighthouse among their Seven Wonders of the World. Along with the pyramids of Egypt, the Hanging Gardens of Babylon, the Colossus of Rhodes, and the other wonders, they ranked the Pharos, history�s first great lighthouse, among the most important and spectacular man-made structures of any age. Rising 450 feet into the blue Mediterranean skies, Pharos was the tallest lighthouse of all time. With almost twelve centuries of nearly continuous operation, it was also the one with the longest service record.




  Built about 280 b.c. on an island in the bustling harbor of the Greco-Egyptian city of Alexandria, Pharos guided ships to the world�s busiest seaport. The light, produced by a fire blazing on the tower�s roof, could be seen from nearly thirty miles away. Ancient mariners needed the Pharos light because Alexandria stood on the flat Nile Delta and there were no mountains or other natural features to help them locate the city.




  Peoples had long made a practice of banking fires on hills and mountainsides to bring their sailors home from the sea. With Pharos, its artificial mountain, Alexandria pulled in ships from the entire known world. The sight of the Pharos light blazing far up near the dome of the sky must have charged the breasts of countless sea captains with awe. In time the delta city became the busiest and most prosperous city on earth, and it remained so for nearly a thousand years, or about as long as its lighthouse stood�it was eventually destroyed by an earthquake.




  Trading ships from Greece, Carthage, and Rome flocked to the city�s wharves to load up on the grain that grew in such wondrous abundance along the banks of the Nile. It was for possession of Alexandria and her grain markets that Julius Caesar invaded Egypt and, later, Octavius fought and defeated Antony and Cleopatra. Without Egypt�s grain to feed the empire�s teeming masses, Rome�s conquests would have been meaningless. And without the Pharos light, the lumbering Roman grain ships might never have found Alexandria. Thus, in a very real sense, the Roman empire was dependent on a lighthouse.




  Like Rome, the United States of America is a highly commercial nation, part industrial and part agrarian. As with Rome, the growth and prosperity of our country has depended on safe navigation of the waters leading to our busy port cities. Thus, lighthouses have been a major concern for Americans right from the nation�s beginning.
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  A fanciful depiction of the Pharos Lighthouse in Alexandria, Egypt. Built by Ptolemaic kings about 280 b.c., it stood until destroyed by an earthquake more than a thousand years later.




  From an eighteenth-century engraving provided courtesy Department of Rare Books, William R. Perkins Library, Duke University.




  Early US Lighthouses




  America�s oldest light station was located on Little Brewster Island at the outer entrance of Boston Harbor. Built in 1716, the Boston Lighthouse was a cylindrical stone structure with a lantern room at the top. Its design set the pattern for hundreds of lighthouses that would come afterward. Destroyed during the Revolutionary War raids by both Continental and British forces, it was rebuilt in 1783.




  Marking the entrance to Nantucket Harbor in Massachusetts, Brant Point Light (1746) was the second lighthouse built in the original thirteen colonies. A rather flimsy wooden structure, it burned or was blown over several times, only to be rebuilt by the island�s tenacious whalers and fishermen.




  America�s third lighthouse, Beavertail Light (1749), marked the passage into Rhode Island�s Narragansett Bay. Its square rubble-stone tower anchored the southern tip of sandy Conanicut Island, which the pirate Captain Kidd had used as a hideout during the 1600s. Like the Boston Light, this one was knocked out of operation during the Revolutionary War. By 1790, however, it was repaired and back in service.




  Built with the proceeds of a public lottery, New London Light (1760) in Connecticut survived the Revolution intact. During the Revolutionary War continental privateers often used the light to help find refuge from pursuing British warships.




  An octagonal brick structure, Sandy Hook Light (1764) stood near the mouth of the Hudson and showed the way to New York City�s harbor. New Yorkers had financed and built this strategic tower, but since it was actually located in New Jersey, the legislature of the Garden State laid claim to the facility during the Revolution. This precipitated a protracted legal squabble that was settled only when the federal government took control of this and other light stations in 1789.




  Guiding ships into Delaware Bay and the river beyond, Cape Henlopen Light (1765) was one of the most important navigational markers in America. For sea captains caught in a storm, this Delaware light was a particularly welcome sight, as it marked one of the few harbors of refuge along the entire eastern coast. Even in the worst weather, the waters behind the cape were nearly always calm. Burned by British sailors and marines in 1777, Cape Henlopen Lighthouse was repaired and relit in 1784.




  Charleston Light (1767), located on a low sandy South Carolina island frequently inundated by tides, pointed the way to the harbor of one of America�s oldest and most gracious cities. For decades it was the only significant navigational light south of the Virginia capes.




  Serving the famed Massachusetts community founded by the Pilgrims, Plymouth Light (1768) was unique in that it displayed not one but two lights from the same building. The twin beacons set the light apart from ordinary lanterns that marked nearby harbors.




  During its early years Portsmouth Light (1771) consisted of little more than a lantern hoisted up the flagpole of Fort William and Mary, on the banks of New Hampshire�s Piscataqua River. In 1775 the keeper felt free to set aside his duties temporarily and take a wagonload of gunpowder to the embattled Massachusetts Minutemen dug in on Bunker Hill outside Boston. A proper wood-frame lighthouse was eventually built at Portland. During the 1780s it received a pair of famous visitors: Revolutionary War hero General Marquis de Lafayette and his old commander, George Washington himself.
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  The oldest standing light tower in the United States, the Sandy Hook Lighthouse remains in operation after more than 230 years. Although built by New Yorkers, the station is located in New Jersey.




  William Kaufhold




  Built to warn mariners away from Thatcher Island, a ship-killing rock off the north coast of Massachusetts, Cape Ann Light (1771) consisted of two separate towers. The island was named for a colonial clergyman and his family, who had been shipwrecked here in 1635. The station�s first keeper was a notorious Tory. When the Revolution broke out, a party of Massachusetts militiamen hustled him off the island, plunging the twin lights into darkness until after the war.




  Though some large American cities such as Baltimore had no lighthouses during the colonial and early postcolonial period, tiny Nantucket Island had two. The Brant Point Light got a neighbor in 1784, when the Great Point Lighthouse was built on the southern end of the island.




  Intended to guide ships safely over the treacherous sandbar at the harbor entrance, the Newburyport Light (1788) in Massachusetts made the first known use of a range-light system. Two lights were displayed, one higher and some distance behind the other. Ships sailing in safe water saw the lights in perfect perpendicular alignment. To mariners straying out of the main channel, the upper light appeared to tilt in one direction or the other.




  For most sailors at this time, however, finding a safe channel as they approached the American coastline was a matter of risky guesswork. The lights listed above were the only worthy navigational guideposts along the entire American coast; that is, until the nation�s first president took the oath of office in 1789.




  The Lighthouse President




  A farmer and lifelong landlubber, George Washington had little interest in ships or the sea, but he was always an enthusiastic promoter of lighthouses. The consummate American, Washington had an abiding interest in money and the making of it, and he could see the commercial potential in a well-conceived system of navigational markers. Even before the Revolution, he took note of ports and headlands that might someday need light towers.




  In 1789, as president, he urged Congress to make lighthouses a national priority. The Congress responded by passing a �Lighthouse Bill,� only the ninth piece of legislation enacted by the nation�s fledgling government. This bill placed all existing coastal lighthouses under federal control. It also created the �Lighthouse Established,� which would come to be known as the United States Lighthouse Service. In one form or another, the service would survive for more than 150 years, until 1939, when the US Coast Guard took full responsibility for the nation�s navigational aids. By that time nearly one thousand fine lighthouses marked the Atlantic and Gulf coasts in the East, the Pacific and Bering Sea coasts in the West, and the shores of the Great Lakes in the Midwest.




  A century and a half earlier, however, when the Lighthouse Service was in its infancy, the number of operational lights was pitifully small. Ships and lives were being lost with grim regularity. To remedy this the service undertook an extensive construction program that added a dozen major lights during the 1790s, the nation�s first full decade of independence. Lighthouses either completed or under construction by the end of the eighteenth century included those at Cape Henry, Virginia (completed in 1792); Portland Head, Maine (1791); Tybee Island, Georgia (1773); Seguin Island, Maine (1795); Bald Head Island, North Carolina (1795); Montauk Point, New York (1797); Baker�s Island, Massachusetts (1791); Cape Cod, Massachusetts (1797); Cape Hatteras, North Carolina (1803); Shell Castle Island near Ocracoke Island, North Carolina (1803); Gay Head, Massachusetts (1799); and Eaton�s Neck, New York (1799).




  Appropriately, this initial burst of lighthouse construction was nearly complete when George Washington died during the final weeks of 1799. The old general missed witnessing, by only two weeks, the beginning of the nineteenth century and, with it, the opening of a whole new era of expansion and prosperity. Washington had done more than most people to make this new and optimistic age possible. Among his most important contributions, however, was one that is not frequently recognized: his insistence on an efficient system of lights for America�s coasts and navigable inland waters.




  Lighthouse Engineers




  By the mid-1800s the United States had more lighthouses than any other nation on earth. More than two hundred major or minor lights shone from one place or another along its coasts. But though America�s light towers outnumbered those of other maritime powers such as Britain, France, and Spain, they lagged far behind in the quality of their construction and the reliability of their beacons. Improvements, such as the use of the advanced, though expensive, Fresnel lenses, designed in France during the early nineteenth century, were delayed by the tight budgets imposed by Congress and by the bureaucratic monovision of treasury auditor Stephen Pleasonton. For more than thirty years, beginning in 1820, Pleasonton lorded over the Lighthouse Service in an imperious�and parsimonious�manner. By 1850, however, Pleasonton�s influence began to wane, unleashing a revolution in American lighthouse technology.




  In 1852 a Lighthouse Board composed of experienced military officers, engineers, and seamen took charge of the Lighthouse Service. Almost immediately, the Board embarked on an ambitious program aimed at expanding and upgrading navigational aids along all of America�s coasts. With the US economy booming and coastal trade on the increase, Congress was willing to foot the huge bill for these improvements. To accomplish its task the board would rely on the skills, energy, and fresh ideas of young military engineers such as George Gordon Meade and Danville Leadbetter.




  A Sea Captain’s Lamp




  Winslow Lewis epitomized the old way of building lighthouses. A former New England sea captain, he represented the age of wooden sailing ships, stone forts, and, naturally enough, stone light towers. About 1810, while suffering through a long stretch of unemployment, Lewis invented a lamp and parabolic reflector system that he said would make America�s navigational beacons more powerful. The Lewis system was quickly adopted, and the US government paid him $60,000 to place his devices in all of the nation�s lighthouses, a process that would take him seven years. No doubt, Lewis�s reflectors were a considerable improvement over earlier systems, but they would prove vastly inferior to the Fresnel lens soon developed by the French. Even so, the Lighthouse Service would keep most of its Lewis reflectors in place until after 1850.




  Having found an advocate in Pleasonton, who admired his knack for thrift, Lewis was soon being hired not just to equip lighthouses but to build them. He preferred towers of a conventional, conical design with stout walls of stone or brick, and he built them well. Many of the dozens of light towers Lewis built on sites from Maine to Louisiana still stand to this day.




  Perhaps Lewis�s best-known success�and failure�came at Frank�s Island, Louisiana, where he was hired in 1818 to build an ornate lighthouse and customs office near the primary entrance to the Mississippi. Designed by a government architect who had never visited the site, the absurdly inappropriate structure was far too heavy for the river�s delta marshlands and collapsed into a pile of useless rubble only a few days after it was finished. Lewis then contracted to build a sensibly modest tower of his own design, completing it, as we would say nowadays, under budget and ahead of schedule. Although the tower has sunk more than twenty feet into the Mississippi mud, it still stands today, a testament to the workmanship of Lewis�s construction crews. But Lewis�s outmoded reflectors and stone towers were no match for the challenges that would face the Lighthouse Service in the 1850s.




  Two Lighthouse Generals




  George Meade could hardly have presented a sharper contrast to Winslow Lewis. Part of a younger, better educated generation of American lighthouse experts, Meade was a trained engineer. In 1835 Meade graduated from West Point at the age of only twenty. After fighting in the Seminole War in Florida, he became a surveyor for the Army Corps of Topographical Engineers, helping to set the boundary between the United States and the then Republic of Texas. In time he developed an interest in marine engineering and lighthouses. His innovative work on light towers in the Delaware Bay convinced his superiors that Lieutenant Meade could help with the seemingly impossible task of marking the Florida Keys.
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  George Meade




  Drawing from Harpers Weekly from private collection of Jim Claflin




  Arriving at Carysfort Reef in 1850, Meade supervised construction of an iron skeleton lighthouse designed by I. W. P. Lewis, who happened to be the nephew�and harshest critic�of Winslow Lewis. The revolutionary screw-pile technology and open structure of the Carysfort tower appealed to the modern instincts of Meade, the engineer. It was an approach Meade would take�and improve on�again and again over the next several years as he built towers at Sand Key, Sombrero Key, and many other sites. One essential Meade innovation was the use of large metal disks to help anchor screw piles to an unstable sand or coral base. Of course, Meade always sought to match methods to the designs of the site. For Seahorse Key, located well to the north of Tampa and off the track followed by most hurricanes, he designed a classic brick and wood-frame combination tower and dwelling much like those later built in the Northwest.




  Another army engineer building Gulf lighthouses at about this same time was Captain Danville Leadbetter. Although a few years older than Meade, Leadbetter had graduated from West Point one year later, in 1836.




  Instead of iron, Leadbetter preferred to use brick, but his often octagonal towers proved as stable and durable as any of the skeleton structures built by Meade. Completed in 1858, his tower at Sand Island off Alabama�s Mobile Bay stood over 150 feet tall. Leadbetter�s brick tower at Port Pontchartrain was stabilized by a submerged concrete pad. But his most unusual design may have been that of the Sabine Pass Lighthouse, with its extraordinary finlike buttresses. Spreading the weight of the tower over the damp, yielding ground, the buttresses have held the tower in rock-solid plumb for more than 140 years. A Leadbetter design for the Cape San Blas Lighthouse in the Florida Panhandle region was never built but might have been a wonder to behold. His creative plan called for a ninety-foot brick tower set atop screw-pile stilts.




  [image: The Gulf of Mexico has swallowed up Alabama�s Sand Island, but its abandoned 1873 lighthouse still stands. An earlier Sand Island tower, designed by Danville Leadbetter, was blown up by Confederate forces under his command.]




  The Architecture of Victory




  The outbreak of the Civil War in 1861 changed the professional status and destiny of millions. The same was true of Meade, who quickly rose to the rank of general in the Union Army, and of Leadbetter, who did the same on the Confederate side. But the war had very different fates in store for the two men.
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  Danville Leadbetter




  Massachusetts Commandery Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the U.S. Army Military History Institute




  Highly valued for his engineering skills, General Leadbetter was put in charge of Gulf Coast fortifications and, not coincidentally, its lighthouses. With a navy vastly inferior to that of the Union, however, the Confederates had little use for coastal lights, likely only to benefit their enemies. Under Leadbetter�s direction Southern troops often removed and carefully hid Fresnel lenses and other useful equipment to keep them out of the hands of the enemy. But some lighthouses thought to be of particular use to Union blockade fleets were marked for destruction. In a moment of supreme and poignant irony, Leadbetter sent out a raiding party to blow up the Sand Island Lighthouse, which he himself had so proudly built only a few years earlier.




  As the war progressed and began to go badly for the South, Leadbetter was recruited to design defensive positions for Confederate infantry. As it turned out, the general had far less skill in creating structures meant to take lives than he had earlier with light towers intended to save them. His entrenchments and other defensive arrangements were thought by some to have been partly responsible for Confederate defeats at Knoxville and Chattanooga.




  Following the war, there were few opportunities in the United States for a former Confederate general to work as a lighthouse engineer. To support himself and his family, Leadbetter sought work in Mexico and Canada. Exhausted, he died in Canada in 1866, little more than a year after he returned to civilian life.




  Meade, on the other hand, fought in several important engagements while working his way up to the rank of major general. A string of early defeats suffered by the Union Army of the Potomac had led President Lincoln to fire one general after another. Meade inherited this revolving-door command on the eve of the critical battle of Gettysburg. Had Robert E. Lee�s Confederates won this battle and surged on toward Washington, the South would likely have won the war. But Meade had learned in Florida how to build a structure capable of weathering a storm. On a series of hills overlooking Gettysburg, he erected his defense, and on the third and final day of the battle, when Lee let loose the thirteen-thousand-man hurricane of Pickett�s charge, its foundations held fast.




  Lighthouse Keepers




  �No man is an island.� So said John Donne, the often-quoted British poet and clergyman. But Donne, who died in 1631, never knew any of the lighthouse keepers who for more than two centuries helped make America�s coasts safe for navigation. For these brave men and women, life was indeed an island. Surviving on low government salaries, they lived mostly on wild headlands and treeless ledges very far from what most of us would call civilization. Often the closest town was itself a backwater, a remote outpost. In bad weather even the nearest rural church might seem impossibly distant.




  When storms rushed in from the ocean, as they often did, lighthouse keepers could not follow the example of the mariners they served and run for some calm harbor. Since their ships had stone foundations and no engines, sails, rudders, or helms, they had to stay and take whatever the sea threw at them. To fight back against gale and gloom, they had only their lights and their wits. The lamps, which more often than not stood at the top of winding staircases with hundreds of steps, were in constant need of attention. But whatever the conditions or the health of the keeper, they had to be kept burning. As a result keepers always worked nights and rarely had a day off.




  Lighthouse keepers endured this sort of existence, not necessarily for any high-minded or romantic reason�for instance, because they loved the sea, the wind, or the isolation�but for the same reason most people work: It rewarded them with a place to live and a smattering of pay. It was also a job worth doing, a job that had to be done.




  Growing Up on a Rock




  The keepers were not the only ones who faced hardship, danger, and punishing weather. Their families usually shared in the heavy work of keeping the lights burning, often displaying the same heroic resolve as the keepers themselves.




  On a stormy night in 1856, young Abbie Burgess drew a chair to the kitchen table of the battered keeper�s residence on isolated Matinicus Rock off the coast of Maine and dipped her pen into ink. A lonely seventeen-year-old, separated by at least twenty-five miles of turbulent ocean from the nearest country store, barn dance, or church social, she had decided to write a letter to a pen pal on the mainland.




  

    




    You have often expressed a desire to view the sea out in the ocean when it is angry. Had you been here on 19 January [1856], I surmise you would have been satisfied. Father was away [Keeper Sam Burgess had gone to Rockland to purchase supplies and was trapped there by a sudden nor�easter, leaving his bedridden wife and daughter to weather the storm alone.] early in the day, as the tide rose, the sea made a complete breach over the rock, washing every movable thing away, and of the old dwelling not one stone was left upon another. The new dwelling was flooded, and the windows had to be secured to prevent the violence of the spray from breaking them in. As the tide came, the sea rose higher and higher, till the only endurable places were the light towers. If they stood, we were saved, otherwise our fate was only too certain. But for some reason, I know not why, I had no misgivings, and went on with my work as usual. For four weeks, owing to the rough weather, no landing could be effected on the rock. During this time, we were without the assistance of any male member of our family. Though at times greatly exhausted with my labors, not once did the lights fail. I was able to perform all my accustomed duties as well as my father�s.




    You know the hens are our only companions. Becoming convinced, as the gale increased, that unless they were brought into the house they would be lost, I said to mother, �I must try to save them.� She advised me not to attempt it. The thought, however, of parting with them without an effort was not to be endured, so seizing a basket, I ran out a few yards after the rollers had passed and the sea fell off a little, with the water knee deep, to the coop, and rescued all but one. It was the work of a moment, and I was back in the house with the door fastened, but I was none too quick, for at that instant my little sister, standing at the window, exclaimed, �Oh, look! Look there! The worst sea is coming.� That wave destroyed the old dwelling and swept the rock. I cannot think you would enjoy remaining here any great length of time for the sea is never still and, when agitated, its roar shuts out every other sound, even drowning our voices.


    


  




  A few months after the extraordinary month-long Atlantic storm described in her letter, Abbie Burgess married a young assistant lighthouse keeper. She and her husband eventually became keepers of the Matinicus Rock Lighthouse.




  Redcoats, Indians, and Leaky Boats




  The wind and weather were not the only dangers faced by lighthouse keepers. Getting to their duty station, especially those on remote points or rugged islands, could place keepers at considerable risk to life and limb. America�s very first lighthouse keeper was George Worthylake, a part-time shepherd who tended the Boston Harbor Lighthouse on Brewster Island. Little more than a year after he was appointed keeper, Worthylake�s small boat capsized, and he drowned while returning from Boston, where he had gone to collect his pay. Many later keepers would suffer similar fates.




  Some keepers kept firearms handy, and for good reason. In 1777 the keeper of the Cape Henlopen Lighthouse was attacked by a landing party of redcoat marines from the British warship Roebuck. As it turned out, the Roebuck was low on supplies, and the famished marines were far more interested in a nearby herd of cattle than in the lighthouse or its keeper. A burst of gunfire stampeded the animals, however, and as the keeper later boasted to his friends, he gave the British �bullets instead of beef.�




  In 1836 Cape Florida keeper John Thomas found himself under attack by a war party of Seminoles. Thomas barricaded himself inside the tower, which had fortresslike brick walls five feet thick. Soon a flaming arrow set fire to the station�s oil supplies, forcing Thomas to climb the tower steps, which burned away behind him. In the metal lantern room, Thomas managed to keep just beyond the reach of the flames, but even so, he was nearly roasted alive. Later Thomas was rescued by sailors from the US warship Concord. Although the tower steps were now gone, they managed to fire a line to him with a musket and then lower him to ground in a basket. After his burns had healed, Thomas returned to his duties as a lighthouse keeper.




  Keepers often loved their work, and many remained at it for a lifetime. More than a few ended their days at home in their lighthouses. Like many keepers before him, Emil Mueller, keeper of the splendidly isolated Rock of Ages Lighthouse in Lake Superior, was on duty when he died in 1930. As a storm raged outside, Mueller had climbed the steps of the thirteen-story steel-plated tower to check the station lamps. His assistant, C. A. Mickey, who was asleep far below, was understandably terrified when Mueller came crashing down onto the bunk beside him. Mickey was uninjured, but Mueller lay dead of a heart attack. Mickey�s explanation for the tragic incident was a simple one. �Too many steps,� he said. �His old heart just gave out.�




  Ida Lewis, perhaps America�s most famous keeper, lived practically her entire life at the Lime Rock Lighthouse in Newport, Rhode Island. Born in 1842, Ida was still a very small girl when she arrived at Lime Rock with her father, Captain Hosea Lewis. A former revenue cutter pilot, Captain Lewis had been forced into semiretirement by illness. Lewis had thought that, despite his failing health, he could handle the duties of lighthouse keeper. As it turned out he could not, and by the time his daughter reached her early teens, she had largely taken over running the lighthouse. In addition to keeping the lamps burning and the Fresnel lens polished and sparkling, young Ida raised two younger sisters and a brother and looked after her father and mother who, in time, both became invalids. Upon her father�s death in 1872, she was named official keeper of the Lime Rock Lighthouse.




  Ida Lewis might have lived out her life in relatively peaceful obscurity had it not been for her penchant for effecting daring rescues. Whenever anyone fell overboard in Newport Harbor, Ida rushed off to the rescue in the light station skiff. Over the years she single-handedly pulled more than a dozen drunken sailors and careless boys and at least one sheep from the harbor�s chilling waters. News of her exploits reached the ears of journalists, and Ida Lewis became the subject of feature articles in newspapers all across the country. Eventually, Ida�s story was told in Harper’s Weekly magazine, for which she became a sort of nineteenth-century cover girl. Some said that for a time Ida Lewis was the most famous woman in America. As such, she received visits�always at Lime Rock, for she never left her station�from some of the country�s most famous people. At one time or another, the Astors, Belmonts, and even President Ulysses S. Grant had tea with her in the lighthouse parlor.




  Despite her fame, though, Ida remained keeper of Lime Rock to the end of her days. In all she tended the light for more than half a century. When the sad news came that Ida Lewis had died at her post on October 25, 1911, the bells of vessels in Newport Harbor tolled throughout the night.
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  Although lighthouse keepers faced loneliness and many hardships, some considered their lives idyllic. Surrounded by lush summer growth, a 1940s-era keeper enjoys the company of his wife and family dog at the isolated Cape Flattery Lighthouse in Washington.




  U.S. Coast Guard




  Lighthouse Lenses




  Fresnels: Man-Made Stars That Brighten the Night




  The business end of a lighthouse is, of course, at the top. The lighting apparatus is kept in the lantern room as high above sea level as the tower and the elevation of the site can make possible. Height adds to the beacon�s range, or distance from which it can be seen. But equally important to the beacon�s effectiveness is the strength of the light itself. Usually a lens, mirror, or other optical device is used to concentrate the light, often into a single brilliant flash. For many years the most efficient way of doing this was with a Fresnel lens.




  Invented in 1822 by French physicist Augustin Fresnel, these big prismatic glass lenses were designed to snatch every flicker of light from even the smallest lamp and concentrate it into a powerful beam that could be seen from dozens of miles away. Fresnel�s elegant lenses did their job so well that they soon became standard equipment in lighthouses throughout much of the world.




  The new Fresnel technology, however, was virtually ignored for several decades in the United States, where Winslow Lewis�s far less effective parabolic reflectors were employed right up to the middle of the nineteenth century. One reason the United States was slow to adopt the Fresnel system was the considerable expense of the highly polished lenses, which had to be imported from France. Another was the bureaucratic fussiness of Stephen Pleasonton, the US Treasury auditor who served for many years as head of the so-called lighthouse establishment. Displaying undisguised favoritism for Lewis, a personal friend, Pleasonton continued to equip US lighthouses with his outdated reflectors even though they were demonstrably inferior to Fresnel lenses. Following the release of a highly critical report written by Lewis�s own nephew, Pleasonton was forced into retirement.
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  The glass prisms of a Fresnel lens concentrate light into a powerful beam that can be seen from dozens of miles away.




  In 1852 stewardship of America�s navigational lights passed to a Lighthouse Board, which consisted of military officers, engineers, harbor masters, and experienced seamen. The board immediately undertook a complete overhaul of America�s ill-equipped and, in many cases, sadly neglected lighthouses. As part of this effort, most lighthouses were fitted with sparkling new Fresnel lenses. Some of these lenses, installed during the years before the Civil War, remain in service to this day.
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  At many light stations Fresnel lenses have been replaced with modern plastic optics like this one at East Brother Lighthouse in California. Interestingly, the newer lenses rely on old-fashioned Fresnel technology.




  A Sophisticated Technology




  Remarkably, Fresnel lenses are as effective and useful today as they were 150 years ago. This is a claim that can be made for very few devices. Few significant improvements have been made in the design of prismatic lenses since the days of Augustin Fresnel. Unlike so many other technologies�transportation, for instance�this one reached its peak of sophistication very early in the industrial revolution. Long before the development of space rockets, jet airliners, automobiles, or even of large steam locomotives, Fresnel lenses were already shining in lighthouse towers. To fully appreciate the contrast, consider that some early Fresnel lenses were delivered to the light stations where they were to serve�in horse-drawn carts.




  Although a Fresnel lens looks like a single piece of molded glass, it is not. The lens consists of individual prisms�sometimes more than several hundreds of them�fitted into a metal frame. This makes them look like giant glass beehives. It also makes them rather delicate.




  Fresnels come in a variety of sizes, referred to as �orders.� The huge first-order lenses, such as the one that formerly served at the Cape Canaveral Lighthouse (it is now on display at the Ponce Inlet [Florida] Lighthouse and Museum), are six feet or more in diameter and up to twelve feet tall. The smallest lenses, designated sixth order, are only about one foot in diameter.




  [image: Bodie Island Lighthouse at sunset]




  The larger and more powerful first-, second-, and third-order lenses were intended for use in coastal lighthouses. The smaller fourth-, fifth-, and sixth-order lenses saw use mostly in harbor and river lighthouses. Specially designed three-and-one-half-order lenses�a compromise between the larger and smaller sizes�were frequently used to guide vessels on the Great Lakes.




  Although Fresnel lenses are as effective and powerful as any so-called modern optical device, they require considerable care and must be cleaned and polished frequently by hand. The larger Fresnels are quite heavy, sometimes weighing in at more than a ton. As a consequence, the mechanisms that turn flashing Fresnel lenses must be large and cumbersome. Despite their size, the old lenses are quite delicate, easily damaged, and almost impossible to repair. For all these reasons, the efficiency-minded Coast Guard has replaced many Fresnels with plastic lenses or airport-type beacons that are lighter weight and easier to maintain. Many of the old lenses have ended up in museums, where the public can enjoy them. Some Fresnels, however, have been sold off to private collectors by antiques dealers.




  Existing Fresnel lenses are practically irreplaceable. When destroyed by storms or vandalism, as, unfortunately, sometimes happens, the Coast Guard must put in their place a modern optic�or a Fresnel previously removed from another lighthouse. The cost of manufacturing new Fresnel lenses is prohibitively high and might run to millions of dollars.




  [image: Since 1854 the Tibbetts Point Lighthouse in New York has marked the far eastern end of Lake Ontario and the entrance of the St. Lawrence River.]




  During the nineteenth century Fresnel lenses were hand-ground and hand-polished by the poorest classes of French laborers, including children, who often worked for pennies a day. It is ironic that the handiwork of these unremembered workers can be counted among the most practical, durable, and handsome devices ever made. No one will ever know how many lives have been saved by these fine old lenses or how many accidents were avoided because their guiding light could be seen on the horizon.




  [image: The Sand Key Light, built under the supervision of George Meade, warned of a shallow area in the approach to Key West.]
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  Portland Head Light




  [image: image]




  

     MAINE 


  




  
▪ WEST QUODDY HEAD LIGHT ▪





  Lubec (1808, 1831, and 1857)




  Looking out across the Quoddy Narrows from its perch on a forty-foot cliff, West Quoddy Head lighthouse anchors the easternmost point in the United States (East Quoddy Head Light, across the narrows, is on Canada’s Campobello Island). Established in 1808, while Thomas Jefferson was still president, this is one of Maine’s oldest light stations. The original rubble-stone tower was torn down and rebuilt in 1831, but even this light was of poor construction. Finally, the tower was replaced with a brick one in 1857. At that time the station received the third-order Fresnel lens that still guides ships and fishing vessels into Lubec Channel. The light atop the forty-nine-foot, candy-striped tower flashes white four times each minute and can be seen from a distance of up to eighteen nautical miles.
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  West Quoddy Head Light




  Equipped with a strobe light and an electric eye that sense moisture in the air, the station’s powerful foghorn occupies a separate brick building. Earlier fog signals here included a black-powder cannon, a fifteen-hundred-pound bell, and a steam whistle.




  

    Travel information: From US Highway 1 turn toward Lubec on Route 169; then turn right at the sign for Quoddy Head State Park. The state park offers world-class views of Grand Manan Channel, nature trails featuring real tundra, and a chance to walk the lighthouse grounds at leisure. Contact West Quoddy Head Lighthouse and Visitor Center, located at 973 South Lubec Road, Lubec, ME 04652. The visitor center is run by West Quoddy Head Light Keepers Association and is open generally Memorial Day through Columbus Day; call (207) 733-2180, or see www.westquoddy.com.


  




  
▪ LUBEC CHANNEL LIGHT ▪





  Lubec (1890)




  Most vessels approaching the St. Croix River ports of Lubec, Eastport, and Calais use the narrow Lubec Channel, which separates Maine from Canada’s Campobello Island to the north of Quoddy Head. To make this key passage safer, the US government marked it with an open-water light station in 1890. Built on a massive caisson of concrete and iron, the station’s brick-lined, cast-iron tower rises fifty-three feet above the water. When seen from a distance, lighthouses of this type resemble giant spark plugs.
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  Lubec Channel Light




  Nick Salata, Lighthouse Digest




  In the past hardy keepers and their assistants lived year-round in cramped quarters on the lower level. The station was automated after a destructive oil fire in 1939.




  For nearly eighty years the beacon was produced by a fifth-order, bull’s-eye Fresnel lens rotated by a weight-driven clockwork mechanism. A plastic optic replaced the original lens in 1969. Now solar powered, the light remains active, flashing white every six seconds.




  

    Travel information: The lighthouse is now privately owned, but the light and fog signal remain active US Coast Guard aids to navigation. The lighthouse can be seen from South Lubec Road, off Route 189 on the way to Quoddy Head State Park.


  




  
▪ WHITLOCKS MILL LIGHT ▪





  Near Calais (1909)




  One of several small US and Canadian beacons that formerly guided lumber freighters along the St. Croix River to the port of Calais, the Whitlocks Mill Lighthouse dates back to 1909. Its twenty-five-foot masonry tower replaced an early light that was simply a lantern hung on a tree or post. An automated optic replaced the fourth-order Fresnel lens in 1969. The light remains active, flashing green ten times a minute. The St. Croix Lighthouse, which at one time stood a few miles downriver from this one, was destroyed by fire in 1976.




  

    Travel information: Grounds are not open to the public because the keeper’s house and outbuildings are privately owned. The original fourth-order Fresnel lens is on display at the Maine Lighthouse Museum (see Travel information for Rockland Breakwater Light). Travelers can see the tower from the St. Croix View Rest Area on US Highway 1 a few miles east of Calais and about five miles northwest of the St. Croix Island International Historic Site. The lighthouse is maintained by the St. Croix Historical Society, P.O. Box 242, Calais, ME 04619; call (207) 454-3061. For more information on this and other lights in the state, contact the Maine Office of Tourism at (888) 624-6345; www.visitmaine.com.


  




  
▪ LITTLE RIVER LIGHT ▪





  Near Cutler (1847 and 1876)




  Established during the mid-nineteenth century, the little River Light Station served mariners for nearly 130 years before being shut down by the Coast Guard in 1975. Although one of the more attractive lighthouses on the coast of Maine, the forty-one-foot iron tower and L-shaped Victorian dwelling stood empty and neglected for many years. The US Coast Guard put the old light station up for sale during the 1990s, but at first there were no takers. Finally, the deteriorating lighthouse came under the wing of the Friends of Little River Lighthouse. The Friends care for the historical property as a chapter of the Maine-based American Lighthouse Foundation, which acquired the property in 2000. The tower was relighted in 2001, and the lighthouse and 1888 keeper’s house have been restored and are open for overnight stays. Overlooking the Bay of Fundy, the setting is idyllic.
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  Little River Light




  Lighthouse Digest




  

    Travel information: Located on an island near Cutler off Route 191 in far eastern Maine, the lighthouse cannot be seen from the mainland. For more information on the Friends of Little River Lighthouse or overnight accommodations reservations, call (207) 259-3833, or see www.littleriverlight.org. For more information on the American Lighthouse Foundation and its wide-ranging preservation efforts contact P.O. Box 565, Rockland, ME 04841, or call (207) 594-4174, or see http://lighthousefoundation.org. Local wildlife and sightseeing cruises offer excellent views of the Little River Lighthouse (1876), as well as the Machias Seal Islands Light Station (1832) southeast of Cutler and the Libby Island Light Station (1848) near Machias; call (207) 259-4484.


  




  
▪ PETIT MANAN LIGHT ▪





  Milbridge (1817 and 1855)




  During the early nineteenth century, coasting schooners were often forced to heel hard aport to avoid the deadly rocks of Petit Manan Island. A lighthouse built there in 1817 did little to improve the situation. Shining from atop a rubble-stone tower only fifty-three feet tall, its Winslow Lewis lamps were so limited in range that sailors could barely see the beacon until they were almost upon the rocks. For more than a few mariners, the warning came too late.
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  Petit Manan Light




  Paula Roberts, Lighthouse Digest




  In 1855 the Lighthouse Board sought to prevent further shipping losses by ordering construction of a soaring 119-foot brick-and-granite tower on Petit Manan. Focused by a powerful second-order Fresnel lens, its flashing light pulsed a warning more than twenty-five miles out to sea. The Fresnel was replaced in 1972 by an automated, solar-powered optic of similar range. The light flashes white six times each minute.




  

    Travel information: From US Highway 1 near Milbridge, turn south on Pigeon Hill Road and follow it to the Petit Manan Wildlife Refuge. A scenic two-mile-long trail leads to the east side of Petit Manan Point, where visitors can enjoy an excellent view of the lighthouse. For information on the wildlife refuge, now known as the Maine Coastal Islands National Wildlife Refuges, see www.fws.gov/northeast/mainecoastal.


  




  
▪ PROSPECT HARBOR POINT LIGHT ▪





  Prospect Harbor (1850 and 1891)




  Prospect Harbor Point Lighthouse looks much like a fisherman’s cottage—except for the thirty-eight-foot conical tower rising from its seaward wall. Its design is appropriate, since its beacon shines out mostly to lobster and sardine boats. Built in 1891, the two-story, wood-frame structure replaced an earlier granite lighthouse that first marked the point in 1850. Ironically, the stone light tower succumbed to the elements after little more than forty years, yet its wooden replacement perseveres, despite weathering over a century of storms. The light remains active, flashing red and white about ten times a minute.
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  Prospect Harbor Point Light




  

    Travel information: From US Highway 1 follow either Route 186 or 195 to Prospect Harbor. The lighthouse can be seen and photographed from several viewpoints in the village. Although located on a navy base, the tower is licensed to the American Lighthouse Foundation. You can drive up close for a view. From Route 1 head south on Route 195 for about five miles to Prospect Harbor. Turn left onto Main Street. Take an immediate right turn onto Corea Road, continuing straight onto Lighthouse Point Road to the gate of the naval installation. Park on the side of the road.


  




  
▪ WINTER HARBOR LIGHT ▪





  Winter Harbor (1856)




  Motorists on the perimeter road of Acadia National Park’s Schoodic Point often notice a small white-brick light tower and attached Victorian keeper’s dwelling. Located on Mark Island, just to the west of Schoodic Peninsula, this is the Winter Harbor Lighthouse, which served from 1856 until 1933, when its fifth-order Fresnel lens was decommissioned. At present the lighthouse is privately owned and maintained.




  

    Travel information: From US Highway 1 follow Route 186 through Winter Harbor to the Acadia National Park entrance—passes are required during the summer season. Parking areas about a mile south of the entrance afford excellent views of the lighthouse. Be sure to stop at Schoodic Point at the far end of the drive. On most days waves crash into the bare rocks of the point and spew high into the air.


  




  
▪ EGG ROCK LIGHT ▪





  Bar Harbor (1875)




  The dramatic red flash of Egg Rock Lighthouse in Frenchman’s Bay catches the attention of visitors to Acadia National Park. Once described as a “pillar of fire in the Atlantic,” the beacon emanates from a barren ledge, which likely got its name from the countless seabird nests found there during mating season. The signal Egg Rock Light marks seaward approaches to Bar Harbor. Flashing red at five-second intervals, it can be seen from fourteen miles away.
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  Egg Rock Light




  The station’s squat, forty-foot tower is far less awe-inspiring than its light. Built in 1875, the squared-off wooden dwelling and brick tower are more functional than scenic. An aeromarine beacon superseded the original fifth-order Fresnel lens when the light was automated in 1976.




  

    Travel information: The light can be seen from several scenic overlooks along the Acadia National Park Loop Road on Mount Desert Island. Thundering surf, panoramic ocean views, and the East’s loftiest headland—fifteen-hundred-foot Cadillac Mountain—make this park one of America’s must-see scenic wonders. The best time to avoid the summer throngs is before July 4 or after Labor Day. The light remains an active US Coast Guard aid to navigation and is maintained by the US Fish and Wildlife Service as part of the Maine Coastal Islands National Wildlife Refuges. For information contact Acadia National Park, P.O. Box 177, Bar Harbor, ME 04609; call (207) 288-3338. When you go, don’t leave without sampling the boiled lobster in Bar Harbor or the popovers and tea at the Jordon Pond House.


  




  
▪ BASS HARBOR HEAD LIGHT ▪





  Bass Harbor (1858)




  Thought by many people to be the most picturesque lighthouse in America, this compact brick tower and attached wooden dwelling cling to a red-rock cliff near the entrance to Bass Harbor. Located on the western “Quietside” of Mount Desert Island, well away from the tourist throngs of Bar Harbor and Acadia Park Island, Bass Harbor bobs with dozens of brightly painted lobster boats. The station’s red light has guided the fishermen of this bucolic village since before the Civil War.
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  Bass Harbor Head Light




  The original fifth-order Fresnel lens was replaced by a fourth-order lens that remains in place. The thirty-two-foot tower has a focal plane at about fifty-six feet above the water. The three-second red beam occults, or goes dark briefly, every four seconds. Panels outside the lens create the light’s red color.




  

    Travel information: The light remains an active US Coast Guard aid to navigation, and the keeper’s quarters are now used as a residence for personnel. The lighthouse is not open to the public, but visitors can enjoy it nonetheless. To reach the lighthouse follow Route 3 onto Mount Desert Island. At the intersection bear right onto Route 102 South through Somesville and Southwest Harbor. Continue to Route 102a through Bass Harbor; 102A turns left, but continue straight onto Lighthouse Road to the parking area. Open year-round from midmorning until sunset, a small park surrounds the station property with a paved walkway that runs right up to the tower. On the far side of the station, a path connects the parking lot with a wooden stairway that leads down the side of the cliff to the reddish boulders below. The short but strenuous climb rewards the adventurous with extraordinary views of the channel and islands beyond and an unmatched opportunity to photograph one of the nation’s prettiest lighthouses.


  




  
▪ GREAT DUCK ISLAND LIGHT ▪





  Great Duck Island (1890)




  Great Duck Island lies under siege by the Atlantic about five miles to the south of Bass Harbor. In part because of its remoteness, countless seabirds, including rare petrels and eider ducks, call the island home. For nearly a century the island was also home to a tiny colony of lighthouse keepers and their families, who received weekly deliveries of mail and supplies from the mainland.




  Established in 1890, the light is now automated. In 1986 a plastic lens replaced the fourth-order Fresnel lens, formerly a fifth-order that crowned its forty-two-foot granite-and-brick tower. The light flashes red every five seconds.
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  Great Duck Island Light




  

    Travel information: At present, the island and most of the station are a Maine Nature Conservancy preserve; it is a base for field courses for the owner, College of the Atlantic in Bar Harbor, which conducts animal and bird research on the island. For more information see www.coa.edu. The island is off-limits to the public during the summer nesting season, but occasional bird-watching tours are conducted by the Maine chapters of the Nature Conservancy, (207) 729-5181; or the Audubon Society, (207) 781-2330.


  




  
▪ MOUNT DESERT ROCK LIGHT ▪





  Mount Desert Rock (1830 and 1847)




  Relentlessly pounded by Atlantic waves, Mount Desert Rock surely ranks as one of the least hospitable places in America. Yet, for nearly 150 years, lighthouse keepers and their families lived on this open ocean ledge, which is only six hundred yards long and less than twenty feet above the water at its highest point. So barren was their home that friendly lobster fishermen brought them baskets of soil in the spring so they could make a little garden in some rain-moistened crevasses among boulders.
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  Mount Desert Rock Light




  US Coast Guard




  Established in 1830 to warn ships away from this exceptionally dangerous obstacle more than twenty miles from the nearest land, the lighthouse at first consisted of only a two-story wooden cottage with a lantern on its roof. The light, provided by inefficient Winslow Lewis reflectors, often could not be seen in time to prevent wrecks.




  In 1847 the Lighthouse Board built a fifty-eight-foot granite tower to replace the original one. In 1858 a new lantern was installed and fitted with a third-order Fresnel lens that exhibited a fixed white light. A one-and-one-half-story wooden keeper’s quarters was added in 1876 and then replaced by a double keepers’ quarters in 1893. Later, a rotating fourth-order lens took the place of the original third-order lens in 1898. With a focal plane seventy-five feet above the water, the light was visible more than twenty miles away. Its range was sharply reduced in heavy weather, however. During a winter storm in 1902, the crew of the ocean tug Astral did not see the light at all, and their vessel slammed into rock. The keeper and his wife managed to save all but one of those on board.




  Keepers served at this isolated station until 1977, when the light was automated. At that time the old Fresnel lens was replaced by a plastic lens. The light flashes white four times each minute.




  In summer 2000 the station was renamed the Alice Eno Field Research Station. The 220-acre island is shared by the College of the Atlantic with the Nature Conservancy, the state of Maine, and a private summer resident.




  

    Travel information: Mount Desert Rock is, of course, very hard to reach, but whale-watching cruises operating out of Bar Harbor often take passengers within sight of the ledge and its lighthouse. The island is closed to the public. For information contact the College of the Atlantic, which conducts summer Family Nature Camps; call (207) 801-5634. Or contact Acadia Welcome Center, 1201 Bar Harbor Road, Trenton, ME 04605; call (800) 345-4617, or see www.barharborinfo.com.


  




  
▪ BURNT COAT HARBOR LIGHT ▪





  Swan’s Island (1872)




  Burnt Coat Harbor may have gotten its name from a Revolutionary deserter. Seeking refuge from the storm of war then breaking over the country, a soldier named Thomas Kench symbolically “burned his coat” and fled to the island in 1776. Vessels seeking refuge here from more natural storms have all too often ended up on the island’s deadly rocks. To make the harbor—the primary anchorage for lobstermen on Maine’s sleepy Swan’s Island—easier and safer to reach, a lighthouse was built on Hockamock Head near its entrance in 1872.




  [image: image]




  Burnt Coat Harbor Light




  At first a pair of range lights marked the safe channel, but these so con fused local sailors that wrecks occurred even faster than before. To simplify matters the Lighthouse Board ordered the smaller of the two towers pulled down in 1885. This left the square, thirty-two-foot rear-range tower to guide vessels into the harbor. Perched on a hill, its focal plane—originally a fourth-order Fresnel lens—is a respectful seventy-five feet high. Automated in 1975 with a modern optic, it is still an active aid to navigation. Its white light occults, winking off briefly every four seconds.




  

    Travel information: Swan’s Island can be reached via regularly scheduled ferries from Bass Harbor. For information contact the Maine State Ferry Service, P.O. Box 114, Bass Harbor, ME 04653; call (207) 244-3254. Owned by the Town of Swan’s Island, the buildings are maintained by the Friends of the Swan’s Island Lighthouse. The lighthouse is undergoing restoration, and grounds are open to the public year-round. For more information write to P.O. Box 11, Swan’s Island, ME 04685; call (207) 526-4279.
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Bodie Island Lighthouse at sunset
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Guilford, Connecticut
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Since 1854 the Tibbetts Point Lighthouse in New York
has marked the far eastern end of Lake Ontario
and the entrance of the St. Lawrence River
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